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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ARMED FORCES 

 
UNITED STATES 
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) 
) 

SUPPLEMENT TO PETITION FOR 
GRANT OF REVIEW 

 )  
v. )  

 )  
Specialist (E-4) ) Crim. App. Dkt. No. 20180260 
JOSHUA D. LEWIS )  
United States Army ) USCA Dkt. No. 19-0109/AR 

Appellant ) 
 
TO THE JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ARMED FORCES: 
 

Issue Presented 

WHETHER THE MILITARY JUDGE ABUSED HIS 
DISCRETION WHEN HE SUPPRESSED SPC 
LEWIS’S THIRD STATEMENT AS 
INVOLUNTARY UNDER MILITARY RULE OF 
EVIDENCE 304. 

 
Statement of Statutory Jurisdiction 

The Army Court of Criminal Appeals [hereinafter Army Court] had 

jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Article 62, Uniform Code of Military 

Justice [hereinafter UCMJ], 10 U.S.C. § 862(a)(1)(A) (2016).  This Honorable 

Court has jurisdiction over this matter under Article 67(a)(3), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 

867(a)(3) (2016). 

  



2 

Statement of the Case 

On February 9, 2018, the convening authority referred one specification of 

sexual assault and one specification of sexual assault of a child against Specialist 

(SPC) Joshua D. Lewis, in violation of Articles 120 and 120b,1 UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. 

§§ 920 and 920b (2016).  (Charge Sheet).  On April 30, 2018, the military judge 

suppressed SPC Lewis’s three statements to law enforcement, and excluded the 

identity of the complaining witness derived from the statements as derivative 

evidence.  (App. Ex. XIII).  On May 3, 2018, the government moved the military 

judge to reconsider his ruling related to SPC Lewis’s second and third statements 

and the derivative evidence.  (App. Ex. XIV).  The government did not seek 

reconsideration of the military judge’s ruling suppressing SPC Lewis’s first 

statement to law enforcement.  (App. Ex. XIV). 

Upon reconsideration on May 14, 2018, the military judge granted the 

portion of the government’s motion related to derivative evidence, but denied the 

portion of the government’s motion related to suppressing SPC Lewis’s second and 

third statements.  (App. Ex. XVII).  The military judge found the government 

failed to prove SPC Lewis’s statements were voluntarily given.  (App. Ex. XVII).  

                                         
1 The government charged The Specification of Charge I (sexual assault) and The 
Specification of Charge II (sexual assault of a child) in the alternative, with only 
the age of the alleged victim, ZC, being different in the theories of liability.  (R. at 
5; Charge Sheet). 
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On May 15, 2018, the government notified the military judge of its intent to seek 

an Article 62, UCMJ, appeal pursuant to Rule for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 908.  

(App. Ex. XVIII).  On October 26, 2018, in an Opinion of the Court, the Army 

Court granted the government’s appeal related to SPC Lewis’s third statement, but 

denied the government’s appeal related to SPC Lewis’s second statement.  

(Appendix). 

In accordance with Rule 19 of this Court’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 

the undersigned appellate defense counsel, on behalf of SPC Lewis, filed a Petition 

for Grant of Review on December 17, 2018, accompanied by a motion to file the 

Supplement to the Petition separately from the Petition for Grant of Review.  This 

Court granted the motion on December 19, 2018, ordering that the Supplement to 

the Petition be filed on or before January 9, 2019.  The Judge Advocate General of 

the Army designated the undersigned military appellate defense counsel to 

represent SPC Lewis, who hereby enter their appearance and file a Supplement to 

the Petition for Grant of Review under Rule 21. 

  



4 

Reasons to Grant Review 

This Court should grant review of SPC Lewis’s petition for two reasons.  

First, SPC Lewis suffered material prejudice to his substantial Fifth Amendment 

and Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights.  In suppressing SPC Lewis’s statements to law 

enforcement, the military judge made extensive findings of fact, applied this 

Court’s and the Supreme Court’s controlling precedent, and properly balanced the 

totality of the circumstances relating to SPC Lewis’s characteristics and the 

conditions of the interrogation.  In overturning the military judge’s ruling, the 

Army Court (1) erroneously determined the military judge made a finding of fact 

not supported by the record, (2) ignored this Court’s decision in United States v. 

Mitchell, 76 M.J. 413 (C.A.A.F. 2017) when analyzing whether SPC Lewis was in 

custody during his interrogation, and (3) ignored the standard of review by giving 

the military judge effectively no deference when evaluating the totality of the 

circumstances.  Accordingly, the Army Court’s decision is materially prejudicial to 

SPC Lewis because he must now face a court-martial where the government is 

permitted to admit his involuntarily given statement. 

Additionally, in this case a law enforcement agent purposefully violated SPC 

Lewis’s Fifth Amendment and Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights because she was 

“concerned that if she advised him of his rights he might invoke.”  (App. Ex. XIII, 

p. 3).  This is precisely the type of law enforcement action that undermines the 
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Fifth Amendment and was expressly rejected by the Supreme Court in Missouri v. 

Seiberts, 542 U.S. 600 (2004).  Private First Class Lewis suffered material 

prejudice from the law enforcement agent’s deliberate violation of his Fifth 

Amendment and Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights. 

Second, in overturning the military judge’s ruling, the Army Court published 

a precedential Opinion of the Court, thereby warranting review by this Court 

pursuant to Rule 21(b)(5)(E) of this Court’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.  As 

the Army Court’s opinion will now function as controlling authority for all Army 

military justice practitioners, it is ripe for this Court’s review. 

Statement of Facts 

1.  Complaint to Law Enforcement 
 

On May 11, 2017, the Fort Hood Criminal Investigation Command (CID) 

was notified that an “unknown female reported [SPC Lewis] inappropriately 

touched her child.”  (App. Ex. VI, p. 10).  The “unknown female” made the 

allegation to Sergeant (SGT) JS, who was working Charge of Quarters (CQ) duty 

at the time.  (App. Ex. VI, p. 10).  As a result of the notification, Investigator 

(INV) LD, who was on loan to CID from the military police (MP), interviewed 

SGT JS.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 3).  During the interview, SGT JS stated the female 

was wearing a green jump suit and a Battle Dress Uniform (BDU) jacket with a 

name sewn on the chest.  (App. Ex. VI, p. 10).  The “unknown female” had a dog 
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with her and was carrying a baseball bat when she made the allegation.  (App. Ex. 

XVII, p. 1).  The “unknown female” told SGT JS that she was ex-military, but 

otherwise did not identify herself.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 2).  Sergeant JS escorted her 

to SPC Lewis’s unit, but she departed the area soon thereafter when she received a 

text message from SPC Lewis.  (App. Ex. VI, p. 11). 

2.  First Interrogation 
 

Four days later, on May 15, 2017, a noncommissioned officer, at the 

direction of the chain of command, escorted SPC Lewis to CID where he was 

interrogated by INV LD.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 2-3; App. Ex. VI, encl. 2, 02:10).  At 

the time, CID suspected SPC Lewis of touching the “unknown female’s” daughter 

in a sexual manner.  (R. at 39; App. Ex. XIII, p. 2).  Investigator LD intentionally 

elected not to inform SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights prior to 

beginning her interrogation.  (R. at 32; App. Ex. XIII, p. 3).  In fact, INV LD did 

not inform SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights until after 45 minutes of 

interrogation.  (R. at 29, 37).   

At the time SPC Lewis was interrogated, CID had not identified the 

“unknown female,” nor had CID obtained her contact information.  (R. at 32, 35; 

App. Ex. XIII, p. 3).  Investigator LD was concerned that SPC Lewis might invoke 

his Article 31(b), UCMJ, right to remain silent or consult with an attorney if she 

informed him of his rights, thereby inhibiting CID’s ability to identify the 
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“unknown female.”  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 3).  Accordingly, INV LD’s intentional 

failure to inform SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights was specifically 

designed to illicit incriminating information from SPC Lewis about the “unknown 

female’s” identity and contact information.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 3). 

While gathering SPC Lewis’s biographical information, and after being in 

the interrogation room for less than two minutes, INV LD asked SPC Lewis, “real 

quick, I had a crazy lady come in and report something, I don’t know who she is, 

she mentioned something about a daughter, so do you happen to know someone 

whose mom is crazy?”2  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 2-3; App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  In response, 

SPC Lewis identified MW.3  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 3).  Investigator LD then left the 

interrogation room.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2). 

When INV LD returned, SPC Lewis asked INV LD, “OK now, what’s going 

on?”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  Investigator LD responded, “Well, you mentioned the 

name right off the bat.”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  Investigator LD then asked, 

“Could you tell me why [MW made the allegation]?”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  

Specialist Lewis then stated he was trying to determine what was going on because 

he believed he and MW “settled the situation.”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  

                                         
2 Investigator LD’s interrogation of SPC Lewis was audio/video recorded, and is 
included in the Record of Trial at App. Ex. VI, encl. 2. 
 
3 MW is the “unknown female” referenced above, and is also the mother of the 
alleged victim, ZC.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 1; Charge Sheet). 
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Investigator LD responded, “Is there a situation, a story, I don’t even know?”  

(App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  Specialist Lewis then stated, “They thought something 

happened between me and their daughter.”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  After asking a 

few more biographical questions, INV LD asked, “Do you want to tell me about 

the story?”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  In response, SPC Lewis stated that he touched 

ZC’s leg one night after he had consumed a large amount of alcohol.  (App. Ex. 

VI, encl. 2). 

After SPC Lewis made the incriminating statements, INV LD asked him for 

MW’s contact information.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  Specialist Lewis stated that 

MW’s phone number was in his phone.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  INV LD then left 

the interrogation room and Special Agent (SA) RR entered the room, informed 

SPC Lewis that he wanted to call MW, and escorted SPC Lewis out of the 

interrogation room to retrieve MW’s phone number from his phone.  (App. Ex. 

XIII, p. 3; App. Ex. VI, encl. 2). 

During a break in the interrogation, INV LD discussed providing a cleansing 

statement to SPC Lewis with other CID personnel, including INV LD’s supervisor, 

SA TS.  (R. at 39-40; App. Ex. XIII, p. 3).  Despite the intentional violation of SPC 

Lewis’s rights, SA TS instructed INV LD not to provide a cleansing statement, and 

no cleansing statement was ever provided.  (R. at 39-41; App. Ex. XIII, p. 3-4). 
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When SPC Lewis returned to the interrogation room after retrieving MW’s 

contact information, INV LD resumed gathering biographical information, and 

eventually informed SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights.  (App. Ex. VI, 

encl. 2).  However, before informing SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, 

rights, INV LD stated, “You mentioned a story, and I didn't ask any questions.  I’m 

not allowed to ask questions, until I advise you of your rights, so can we go 

through that first, and then you will tell me your story again.”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 

2).  As part of the rights advisement, INV LD informed SPC Lewis that CID 

suspected him of committing abusive sexual contact.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  

Investigator LD also informed SPC Lewis that, “suspected, means I can talk to you 

about it, and abusive sexual contact means I put my hand on your shoulder and you 

may consider it sexual.”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  After SPC Lewis waived his 

rights, INV LD asked, “Could you tell me the story again?”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2).  

Specialist Lewis again stated that he touched ZC’s leg.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 2). 

When INV LD documented the interrogation in a CID Agent’s Investigation 

Report (AIR), she falsely wrote that SPC Lewis “provided a spontaneous 

statement” about touching KC’s leg.  (App. Ex. VI, p. 11). 
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3.  Second Interrogation 
 

On June 15, 2017, SPC Lewis was again escorted to be interrogated by CID.  

(App. Ex. XIII, p. 4, 7).  This time, SA AS interrogated SPC Lewis.4  (App. Ex. 

XIII, p. 4).  Prior to conducting the interview, “SA [AS] reviewed the entire case 

file and watched all the recorded witness interviews.5  He also discussed the 

investigation to date with INV [LD].  He was aware that INV [LD] had not advised 

[SPC Lewis] of his rights before interrogating him.”  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 4). 

At the beginning of the interrogation, before informing SPC Lewis of his 

Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights, SA AS stated, “I know you came here earlier, you 

talked to us, so I’m just going to ask you some additional questions.  But before we 

do it, I know my partner Investigator [LD] must have told you that we have to go 

through your rights advisement.”  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 4).  Special Agent AS then 

informed SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 4).  

Specialist Lewis waived his rights, stated that he touched ZC’s leg, and denied 

digitally penetrating ZC’s vagina.  (App. Ex. VI, encl. 4).  Special Agent AS did 

                                         
4 SA AS’s interrogation of SPC Lewis was audio/video recorded, and is included 
with the record of trial at App. Ex. VI, encl. 4. 
 
5 By the time of SPC Lewis’s second interrogation, CID had conducted interviews 
with MW and ZC.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 4).  In her interview, ZC stated that SPC 
Lewis penetrated her vagina with his fingers without her consent.  (App. Ex. XIII, 
p. 4).  ZC also reported that when she protested the sexual act, SPC Lewis said, 
“Let’s just do it.  It’ll be our little secret.”  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 4). 
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not provide a cleansing statement to inform SPC Lewis that INV LD violated his 

rights in her initial interrogation, and as such, his statements to INV LD could not 

be used against him.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 4). 

4.  Third Interrogation 
 

On July 6, 2017, SA MC prepared the documents necessary to conduct a 

polygraph examination of SPC Lewis.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  In preparing the 

documents, SA MC reviewed the entire CID file, including the AIRs and notes 

from INV LD and SA AS.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  Special Agent MC reviewed INV 

LD’s inaccurate characterization of SPC Lewis’s “spontaneous statement,” and 

learned that appellant denied digitally penetrating ZC during the interrogation with 

SA AS.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  Special Agent MC drafted a two-paragraph 

summary of ZC and SPC Lewis’s previous statements as part of the document 

packet.  (App. Ex. X, p. 7).  The two-paragraph summary did not include a 

reference to what INV LD characterized as a “spontaneous statement.”  (App. Ex. 

X, p. 7). 

On July 11, 2017, for the third time, a noncommissioned officer escorted 

SPC Lewis to CID, this time to undergo a polygraph examination with SA MB.  

(App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  Prior to interrogating SPC Lewis, SA MB reviewed the two-

paragraph summary created by SA MC, but did not review the remainder of the 

CID file.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  Special Agent MB was not aware that INV LD 
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failed to inform SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights prior to 

interrogating him.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5). 

At the beginning of the interrogation, SA MB informed SPC Lewis of his 

Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  Specialist Lewis waived his 

rights.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  During the interrogation, SA MB “confronted [SPC 

Lewis] about lying in his previous statements,” specifically asked him if he said, 

“Let’s do it.  It will be our secret,” and was the first person in the interrogation to 

bring up the topic of vaginal penetration.  (R. at 67-68; App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  By 

confronting SPC Lewis in this manner, SA MB made specific reference to his 

previous statements to members of the CID office.  (App. Ex. XVII, p. 1; R. at 67-

68).  Special Agent MB also told SPC Lewis the interrogation was “helping [SPC 

Lewis] and making him better than when he arrived.”  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5). 

While SPC Lewis was talkative and inquisitive in the initial stages of the 

interrogation, he appeared to become “overwhelmingly sad” before stating that he 

digitally penetrated ZC.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  After completing the interrogation, 

SPC Lewis signed a sworn statement covering the information discussed in the 

interrogation.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 5).  Special Agent MB never provided a cleansing 

statement to SPC Lewis.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 9). 

The military judge found that there was no evidence suggesting any of the 

three interrogations were “coercive in nature or under inhumane conditions.”  



13 

(App. Ex. XIII, p. 9).  He also found that none of the interrogations were “of long 

duration.”  (App. Ex. XVII, p. 1). 

5.  Motion to Suppress 
 

The government preferred one specification of sexual assault and one 

specification of sexual assault of a child against SPC Lewis on September 28, 

2017.6  (Charge Sheet).  The convening authority referred the charges and 

specifications to a general court-martial on February 9, 2018.  (Charge Sheet).  On 

March 26, 2018, trial defense counsel for SPC Lewis filed a motion to suppress his 

statements to INV LD, SA AS, and SA MB as involuntary pursuant to Mil. R. 

Evid. 304, and to suppress all evidence derived from SPC Lewis’s statements.  

(App. Ex. VI). 

On April 30, 2018, the military judge granted SPC Lewis’s motion and 

suppressed all of his statements to law enforcement personnel, as well as the 

evidence derived therefrom.  (App. Ex. XIII).  The military judge found that, based 

on the totality of the circumstances, the government failed to prove that SPC 

Lewis’s statements were voluntarily given.  (App. Ex. XIII). 

On May 3, 2018, the government moved the military judge to reconsider his 

ruling related to SPC Lewis’s second and third statements and the derivative 

                                         
6 As discussed above, the government charged the digital penetration of KC’s 
vagina in the alternative, with the only difference being the age of KC at the time 
of the alleged assault.  (R. at 5; Charge Sheet) 



14 

evidence.  (App. Ex. XIV).  Upon reconsideration on May 14, 2018, the military 

judge granted the portion of the government’s motion relating to derivative 

evidence, but denied the portion of the government’s motion related to suppressing 

SPC Lewis’s second and third statements.  (App. Ex. XVII).  The military judge 

again found that the government failed to prove SPC Lewis’s statements were 

voluntarily given.  (App. Ex. XVII).  On May 15, 2018, the government notified 

the military judge of its intent to seek an Article 62, UCMJ, appeal pursuant to 

R.C.M. 908.  (App. Ex. XVIII).  On October 26, 2018, in an Opinion of the Court, 

the Army Court granted the government’s appeal related to SPC Lewis’s third 

statement, but denied the government’s appeal related to SPC Lewis’s second 

statement.  (Appendix). 

In its opinion, the Army Court concluded that the military judge: (1) erred in 

finding SPC Lewis was in custody during the three interrogations; (2) erred in 

finding that SPC Lewis was suffering from adjustment disorder during the 

interrogations; and (3) erred in weighing the totality of the circumstances related to 

SPC Lewis’s third statement.  (Appendix).7 

                                         
7 While acknowledging this Court does not review the Army Court’s analysis on 
matters appealed pursuant to Article 62, UCMJ, SPC Lewis notes that the Army 
Court erred in making all of these conclusions for the reasons addressed in this 
Supplement to the Petition for Grant of Review.  See United States v. Stellato, 74 
M.J. 473, 480 (C.A.A.F. 2015) (“[W]e review the military judge’s ruling directly 
in an Article 62, UCMJ, appeal.) (citation omitted). 
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Additional facts as necessary to resolve the issue appealed are included in 

the sections below. 

Summary of the Argument 

The military judge did not abuse his discretion in suppressing SPC Lewis’s 

third statement to law enforcement because his findings of fact were supported by 

the record, he applied the correct law, and he fashioned a proper remedy.  

Considering the totality of the circumstances of SPC Lewis’s characteristics and 

the conditions of the interrogation, the military judge did not abuse his discretion 

in determining that the government failed to prove SPC Lewis’s third statement to 

law enforcement was voluntarily given. 

Issue Presented 
 

WHETHER THE MILITARY JUDGE ABUSED HIS 
DISCRETION WHEN HE SUPPRESSED SPC 
LEWIS’S THIRD STATEMENT AS 
INVOLUNTARY UNDER MILITARY RULE OF 
EVIDENCE 304. 
 

Standard of Review 

“In an Article 62, UCMJ, appeal, this Court reviews the military judge’s 

decision directly and reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the party 

which prevailed at trial.”  United States v. Pugh, 77 M.J. 1, 3 (C.A.A.F. 2017) 

(citing United States v. Buford, 74 M.J. 98, 100 (C.A.A.F. 2015)).  Appellate 

courts “review a military judge’s ruling on a motion to suppress for an abuse of 
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discretion.”  Mitchell, 76 M.J. at 417 (citing United States v. Rodriguez, 60 M.J. 

239, 246-47 (C.A.A.F. 2004)).  “A military judge abuses his discretion if his 

findings of fact are clearly erroneous or his conclusions of law are incorrect.”  Id. 

(citing United States v. Olson, 74 M.J. 132, 134 (C.A.A.F. 2015)).  “The abuse of 

discretion standard of review recognizes that a judge has a range of choices and 

will not be reversed so long as the decision remains within that range.”  United 

States v. Gore, 60 M.J. 178, 185 (C.A.A.F. 2004) (internal citations omitted). 

“On matters of fact with respect to appeals under Article 62, UCMJ, 

[appellate courts] are bound by the military judge’s factual determinations unless 

they are unsupported by the record or clearly erroneous.”  Pugh, 77 M.J. at 3 

(citing Gore, 60 M.J. at 185).  The clearly erroneous standard is a “very high one 

to meet,” and “[i]f there is ‘some evidence’ supporting the military judge’s 

findings, [an appellate court] will not hold them . . . ‘clearly erroneous.’”  United 

States v. Leedy, 65 M.J. 208, 213 n. 4 (C.A.A.F. 2007) (citations omitted) (internal 

quotations in original). 

“Voluntariness of a confession is a question of law that an appellate court 

independently reviews de novo.”  United States v. Bubonics, 45 M.J. 93, 94 

(C.A.A.F. 1996) (citations omitted). 
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Law 

As a general rule, a “statement obtained from the accused in violation of the 

accused’s rights under Article 31 is involuntary and therefore inadmissible against 

the accused.”  Mil. R. Evid. 305(c)(1).  The prosecution bears the burden, by a 

preponderance of the evidence, of establishing the voluntariness of the statement.  

Mil. R. Evid. 304(f)(6-7).  The Supreme Court has long articulated the test for 

voluntariness as:  

Is the confession the product of an essentially free and 
unconstrained choice by its maker?  If it is, if he has willed 
to confess, it may be used against him.  If it is not, if his 
will has been overborne and his capacity for self-
determination critically impaired, the use of his confession 
offends due process. 
 

Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 602 (1961).  In making that determination 

the court must:  

[A]ssess[] the totality of all the surrounding circumstances 
– both the characteristics of the accused and the details of 
the interrogation.  Some of the factors taken into account 
have included the youth of the accused, his lack of 
education, or his low intelligence, the lack of any advice 
to the accused of his constitutional right, the length of 
detention, the repeated and prolonged nature of the 
questioning, and the use of physical punishment such as 
the deprivation of food or sleep. 
 

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973). 
 

The correct test when assessing the voluntariness of a statement made 

subsequent to an unwarned statement is “whether his subsequent confession was 
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voluntary considering all the facts and circumstances of the case including the 

earlier technical violation of Article 31(b).”  United States v. Steward, 31 M.J. 259, 

265 (C.M.A. 1990) (emphasis added); accord Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298 

(1985).  Despite there being no presumption of taint when actual coercion is not 

involved, “the scales are not evenly balanced between the parties in litigating a 

motion of this sort . . . [and] the Government must shoulder the burden to prove by 

a preponderance of the evidence that a statement by the accused was made 

voluntarily before it may be received into evidence.”  United States v. Phillips, 32 

M.J. 76, 80 (C.M.A. 1991).  “One of the circumstances this Court takes into 

account is the presence of a ‘cleansing warning,’ however, the absence of such is 

not fatal to a finding of voluntariness.”  United States v. Brisbane, 63 M.J. 106, 

114 (C.A.A.F. 2006).  A “cleansing statement” or “cleansing warning” is advice 

given by an investigator to a suspect that the contents of previous unwarned 

statements may not be used against him.  Phillips, 32 M.J. at 78.  A cleansing 

warning gives a suspect the opportunity to consider whether “the cat is out of the 

bag.”  United States v. Benner, 57 M.J. 210, 213 (C.A.A.F. 2002). 

As necessary, additional legal principles, cases, and authorities are included 

in the relevant subsections below. 
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Argument 

1.  The military judge’s determinative findings of fact are not clearly 
erroneous. 
 

In issuing his rulings on SPC Lewis’s motion to suppress and the 

government’s motion to reconsider his ruling, the military judge made extensive 

findings of fact.  (App. Ex. XIII; App. Ex. XVII).  Among those, the military judge 

found that SPC Lewis was a 24-year-old junior-enlisted Soldier with 6 years of 

active duty service.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6).  Additionally, SPC Lewis had no 

leadership experience, a “low average” General Technical (GT) score, and only a 

high school education.  (App. Ex. XVII, p. 7; App. Ex. XIII, p. 6).  The military 

judge also found that SPC Lewis suffered from “Adjustment Disorder with Mixed 

Anxiety and Depressed Mood” that affected his mood and ability to cope with 

additional stressors during the interrogations.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6; App. Ex. XVII, 

p. 6).  Furthermore, the military judge found that SPC Lewis was in custody and 

not free to leave during any of the three interrogations, and that he was never given 

a cleansing statement before, during, or after any of the three custodial 

interrogations.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 7-9). 

  



20 

Of these relevant factual findings, the Army Court only found the finding 

related to adjustment disorder unsupported by the record of trial.8  (Appendix, p. 

11).  Despite concluding that military judge’s finding related to SPC Lewis’s 

adjustment disorder was unsupported by the record, the Army Court stated the 

finding had “minimal impact” on its overall analysis.  (Appendix A, p. 11).  

Irrespective of the impact this finding had on the Army Court’s analysis, the 

military judge’s finding that SPC Lewis suffered from “a psychological disorder 

that affected his mood and ability to deal with additional stressors” is not clearly 

erroneous.  (App. Ex. XVII, p. 7). 

In his ruling, the military judge wrote, “The court notes that the burden is on 

the government, which offered no evidence” indicating that SPC Lewis was not 

suffering from adjustment disorder at the time of the interrogations.  (App. Ex. 

XIII, p. 12, n. 8).  To that end, the military judge found that SPC Lewis was 

diagnosed with “Adjustment Disorder with Mixed Anxiety and Depressed Mood” 

in November 2017.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6).  In his analysis, the military judge stated, 

“it is a reasonable presumption that [SPC Lewis] suffered from adjustment disorder 

with mixed anxiety and depressed mood at the time of the [INV LD] interview.”  

                                         
8 Again, while SPC Lewis acknowledges that this Court reviews the military 
judge’s conclusions directly, it is necessary to highlight the flaws in the Army 
Court’s analysis for the purpose of demonstrating that sufficient evidence supports 
the military judge’s finding. 
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(App. Ex. XIII, p. 11-12).  Additionally, SPC Lewis specifically discussed some of 

his psychological issues with SA AS during his second interrogation in June 2017.  

(App. Ex. VI, encl. 4). 

As it relates to this case, the military judge knew SPC Lewis was diagnosed 

with the disorder in November 2017.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6).  The military judge 

also knew what the symptoms and impacts of such a diagnosis were.  (R. at 131-

36).  Additionally, he knew SPC Lewis discussed the symptoms underlying the 

ultimate diagnosis with SA AS during his second interrogation in June 2017.  

(App. Ex. VI, encl. 4).  The military judge even expressly stated the government, 

as the burden holder, never provided any evidence whatsoever to indicate that SPC 

Lewis was not suffering from the psychological disorder during the interrogations.  

(App. Ex. XIII, p. 12, n. 8).  Taking all of these facts into account, the military 

judge’s finding that SPC Lewis was suffering from “a psychological disorder that 

affected his mood and ability to deal with additional stressors” during the three 

interrogations is not clearly erroneous. 

The Army Court did not find any other determinative finding of fact 

unsupported by the record.  (Appendix).  Accordingly, the military judge’s 

findings of fact are not clearly erroneous. 
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2.  The military judge applied the correct law. 
 

The military judge applied the correct law when analyzing whether SPC 

Lewis’s statements to law enforcement were voluntarily given.  “Military judges 

are presumed to know the law and follow it absent clear evidence to the contrary.”  

United States v. Erickson, 65 M.J. 221, 225 (C.A.A.F. 2007).  In making a 

voluntariness determination of whether a statement made subsequent to an 

unwarned statement, military judges must consider the totality of the circumstances 

surrounding the characteristics of the accused and the details of the investigation.  

Steward, 31 M.J. at 265; Bustamonte, 412 U.S. at 226.  The military judge properly 

applied the totality of the circumstances analysis in this case.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 

12) (“Under the totality of the circumstances, the court finds the Government has 

not met it burden” to show the three statements were voluntary.). 

The military judge is required to apply the right law.  He did.  The military 

judge relied on this Court’s and the Supreme Court’s legal framework in analyzing 

the voluntariness issue in this case.  The question was whether the totality of the 

circumstances combined to taint SPC Lewis’s decision to speak with law 

enforcement to the point that it was no longer a knowing and voluntary decision.  

The military judge did not abuse his discretion in deciding that it had. 
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3.  The military judge correctly determined SPC Lewis was in custody for all 
three interrogations. 
 

In conducting his analysis, the military judge determined SPC Lewis was “in 

custody during each of the three relevant interviews,” in part because “a reasonable 

person of the accused’s age, experience, education, diagnoses, and military service 

would not have felt he was at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave.”  

(App. Ex. XIII, p. 7).  The military judge also found that SPC Lewis “was escorted 

by a superior from his unit to CID,” searched upon arrival, forced to place his 

belongings in a locker, and escorted to an interrogation room by a CID agent on 

the three relevant occasions.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 7). 

When determining if an accused is in custody, “[t]wo discrete inquiries are 

essential to the determination: first, what were the circumstances surrounding the 

interrogation; and second, given those circumstances, would a reasonable person 

have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave.”  

Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 112 (1995).  “[T]he ultimate inquiry is simply 

whether there is a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree 

associated with a formal arrest.”  California v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125 

(1983) (citation omitted).  Courts apply an “objective test to resolve ‘the ultimate 

inquiry.’”  Thompson, 516 U.S. at 112 (citation omitted).  “[C]ustody must be 

determined based on how a reasonable person in the suspect’s situation would 

perceive his circumstances.”  Yarhorough v. Alvarodo, 541 U.S. 652, 662 (2004).  
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Accordingly, “the initial determination of custody depends on the objective 

circumstances of the interrogation, not on the subjective views harbored by either 

the interrogating officers or the person being questioned.”  Stansbury v. California, 

511 U.S. 318, 323 (1994).  In making this determination, courts evaluate: 

(1) whether the person appeared for questioning 
voluntarily; (2) the location and atmosphere of the place in 
which questioning occurred . . . [;] (3) the length of the 
questioning . . . [;] [(4)] the number of law enforcement 
officers present at the scene[;] and [(5)] the degree of 
physical restraint placed upon the suspect. 
 

Mitchell, 76 M.J. at 417 (citations omitted).  Whether an accused is in custody at 

the time of the interrogation is relevant to the voluntariness of the statement 

because to determine voluntariness, courts assess “both the characteristics of the 

accused and the details of the interrogation.”  Bustamonte, 412 U.S. at 226 

(emphasis added). 

In his ruling on SPC Lewis’s motion to suppress, the military judge cited the 

proper “objective test” and “reasonable person” standard applicable when 

determining if an accused is in custody.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6-7).  However, he 

appeared to consider SPC Lewis’s “age, experience, education, diagnoses, and 

military service” in finding that SPC Lewis was in custody during the three 

interrogations.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 7).  Despite this, the military judge correctly 

determined that SPC Lewis was in custody given the facts of this case. 
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In this case, even if the military judge considered some extraneous factors in 

conducting his analysis, he came to the correct conclusion.  See United States v. 

Lincoln, 42 M.J. 315, 320 (C.A.A.F. 1995) (“When the Government appeals an 

adverse ruling, the defense may assert additional or alternate grounds for affirming 

the ruling.”). 

This case is similar to Mitchell, in which this Court determined that SGT 

Mitchell was in custody when he was interrogated.  76 M.J. 413.  There, SGT 

Mitchell was taken to his commander’s office where he spoke with and was served 

a search authorization by law enforcement.  Id. at 417.  Applying the five factors 

for determining custody, this Court found that (1) SGT Mitchell did not appear in 

his commander’s office voluntarily, (2) the location and atmosphere of the 

commander’s office suggested SGT Mitchell was in custody, (3) the questioning 

by law enforcement was not of long duration, (4) two law enforcement officers 

were “on the scene, backed by the authority of [SGT Mitchell’s] commander,” and 

(5) despite not being shackled, SGT Mitchell was sufficiently restrained by the 

environment created by his commander and the law enforcement agents.  Id. at 

417-18.  This Court determined that “[u]nder these circumstances . . . [SGT 

Mitchell] was therefore in custody.”  Id. at 418. 

Similarly in this case, the application of the five factors demonstrates that 

SPC Lewis was likewise in custody during each of the interrogations.  First, SPC 
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Lewis’s command team ordered him to CID and he was escorted by a non-

commissioned officer from his unit.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 7).  Second, SPC Lewis 

was interrogated in a room at CID, after being searched and escorted to the room 

by law enforcement agents, which created more of a custodial atmosphere than the 

commander’s office in Mitchell.  (App. Ex. VI, encls. 2 and 4; App. Ex. XIII, p. 7).  

Third, none of the interrogations were “of long duration.”  (App. Ex. XVII, p. 1).  

Fourth, SPC Lewis was questioned by law enforcement agents, in a law 

enforcement building.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 7).  Fifth, similar to SGT Mitchell, SPC 

Lewis was not shackled during the questioning, but nonetheless was sufficiently 

restrained by his environment considering that he was escorted to CID by a 

superior from his command, searched upon entering CID, his personal items were 

seized and placed in a locker, and finally he was escorted to a closed room within 

CID to be interrogated.  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 7). 

Because the facts in this case are analogous to those in Mitchell, the military 

judge correctly found that SPC Lewis was in custody, even if his analysis 

erroneously considered SPC Lewis’s personal characteristics.  Accordingly, the 

military judge did not err in considering the custodial nature of the interrogations 

when he conducted his totality of the circumstances voluntariness analysis. 
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4.  Under the totality of the circumstances, SPC Lewis’s statement to SA MB 
was involuntary. 
 

While the absence of a cleansing statement is not presumptively fatal, it 

combines with the other circumstances in this case to overwhelm SPC Lewis’s 

ability to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to remain silent.  

In this case, (1) SPC Lewis’s prior unwarned statement, (2) INV LD’s purposeful 

violation of SPC Lewis’s Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights, (3) the three separate 

custodial interrogations, (4) SPC Lewis’s youth, (5) his inexperience with the 

military justice system, (6) his psychological disorder, (7) his “low average” GT 

score, (8) his high school education, and (9) the lack of cleansing warnings, all 

combine to make SPC Lewis’s statements to SA AS and SA MB involuntary.  As 

such, the military judge correctly concluded that all of SPC Lewis’s statements 

should be suppressed. 

As noted by the military judge, “Cases such as this are very fact specific.”  

(App. Ex. XIII, p. 10).  In United States v. Cuento, despite providing a prior 

unwarned statement, this Court found Cuento’s second confession voluntary.  60 

M.J. 106, 110 (C.A.A.F. 2004).  In its analysis, this Court found it important that 

Cuento was “37 years old, with over 18 years of service in the Navy.”  Id. at 109.  

Additionally, Cuento had been “invited, but not ordered to appear,” was “not in 

custody” when he made his second statement, and was told he could leave at any 

time.  Id. at 109-10.  Furthermore, Cuento’s initial, unwarned statement was made 
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to a civilian, in the civilian’s office, approximately “seven days” before making a 

statement to NCIS, a “significant time for cool reflection and consultation with an 

attorney.”  Id. 

The facts of this case are distinguishable from those in Cuento.  Specifically, 

unlike in Cuento, SPC Lewis, at the time of the interrogations, was a junior-

enlisted Solider, had no experience dealing with law enforcement, and was 

subjected to custodial interrogations on all three occasions.  Instead, this case is 

more akin to Phillips, 32 M.J. 76. 

In Phillips, the appellant was court-martialed for the misuse of government 

resources by racking up $2,521 worth of personal long-distance phone calls.  32 

M.J. at 76.  On two separate occasions, the appellant was confronted by members 

of his chain of command and the appellant made incriminating statements about 

the long-distance phone calls.  Id. at 77.  Neither admission was properly warned.  

Id. at 77-78.  The appellant was later interviewed by SA Hurley, who read him his 

rights but also “indicat[ed] that he was aware of the earlier [unwarned] 

investigation that Phillips’ command had conducted.”  Id. at 81.  Accordingly, 

“such references quite effectively bridged the gap between the earlier interview 

and the one that was about to begin.”  Id. at 81.  A cleansing statement for the prior 

unwarned investigation was not given, and the subsequent statement to the Special 

Agent was given one month after the unwarned statement.  Id. at 78-79.  This 
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Court’s predecessor also referenced bad faith on the part of law enforcement 

during the earlier unwarned interrogation. Id. at 81-82. Analyzing the totality of 

the circumstances, the Court of Military Appeals (CMA) determined the 

government had not met its burden to show the accused’s subsequent statement 

was given voluntarily. Id. at 81. The CMA specifically found that had “Hurley 

given Phillips a ‘cleansing warning,’ [its] conclusion might not be the same.” Id.

Thus, although not inherently dispositive, a failure to provide a cleansing 

statement can be the deciding factor as to voluntariness.

Specialist Lewis’s situation is worse than the circumstances in Phillips.

During the interrogations, SPC Lewis was a 24-year-old Specialist with 6 years of 

active duty service. (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6). Additionally, SPC Lewis had a “low 

average” GT score and only a high school education.  (App. Ex. XVII, p. 7; App. 

Ex. XIII, p. 6). He suffered from “Adjustment Disorder with Mixed Anxiety and 

Depressed Mood” that affected his mood and ability to cope with additional 

stressors, and was in custody and not free to leave during any of the three 

interrogations. (App. Ex. XIII, p. 6-7; App. Ex. XVII, p. 6). Furthermore, SPC 

Lewis was never given a cleansing statement before, during, or after any of the 

three custodial interrogations. (App. Ex. XIII, p. 8-9). 

Furthermore, this case, like Phillips, raises the specter of the practice of (1) 

an unwarned interrogation, followed by (2) a rights warning, and then (3) an 
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interrogation that referenced and revealed the same information previously elicited.  

In Phillips, the CMA held that this practice “had consequences as a matter of fact; 

and now it must have consequences as a matter of law.”  32 M.J. at 81.  The 

CMA’s conclusion in Phillips was prescient as the Supreme Court expressly 

outlawed this deliberate undermining of Miranda rights as a violation of the Fifth 

Amendment.  See generally Seiberts, 542 U.S. 600.   

This case smacks of the practice outlawed by the CMA and the Supreme 

Court.  Here the military judge found that “[INV LD] did not read the accused his 

rights [prior to eliciting incriminating information] because she wanted to get the 

accused’s story and to get the identity and contact information of the victim.  She 

was concerned that if she advised him of his rights he might invoke.”  (App Ex. 

XIII, p. 3).  Additionally, the military found “implied bad faith on [INV LD’s] part 

by purposely withholding warnings to get incriminating information from [SPC 

Lewis] before the warnings.”  (App. Ex. XIII, p. 8).  Further, INV ID then 

purposely mischaracterized SPC Lewis’s statements as “spontaneous” in her AIR.  

(App. Ex. VI, p. 11). 

Unwarned questioning, a rights waiver, and then warned questioning 

referencing the previous statements is precisely what the Supreme Court outlawed 

in Seiberts.  542 U.S. 600.  However, that is exactly what happened in this case.  

Both SA AS and SA MB directly referenced SPC Lewis’s prior unwarned 
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statement to INV LD.  Special Agent AS referenced SPC Lewis’s statement to 

INV LD before informing SPC Lewis of his Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights.  (App. 

Ex. VI, encl. 4).  Similarly, SA MB referenced SPC Lewis’s prior statements by 

“confront[ing] [SPC Lewis] about lying in his previous statements.”  (R. at 67-68).  

Consistent with this Court and the Supreme Court’s prohibition on this type of law 

enforcement activity, the military judge found SPC Lewis’s subsequent unwarned 

statements were involuntarily given, and that conclusion is not an abuse of 

discretion. 

Under the totality of the circumstances, (1) the prior unwarned interrogation, 

coupled with (2) the lack of a cleansing statement, augmented by (3) the 

purposeful violation of SPC Lewis’s Article 31(b), UCMJ, rights, (4) the three 

separate custodial interrogations, (5) SPC Lewis’s youth, (6) his inexperience with 

the military justice system, (7) his psychological disorder, (8) his “low average” 

GT score, and (9) his high school education, preclude the government from 

affirmatively proving that this junior-enlisted Soldier’s statement to SA MB was 

voluntary.  Specialist Lewis was unable to make a knowing and voluntary waiver 

of his rights given the circumstances. 

In this case, the military judge’s findings of fact were not clearly erroneous, 

he applied the correct legal framework, and he fashioned a remedy from the 

available pool of remedies.  Accordingly, the military judge did not abuse his 
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discretion in finding the government had not met their burden and in suppressing 

SPC Lewis’s statements to CID, and this Court should grant SPC Lewis’s Petition 

for Grant of Review and reverse the Army Court’s decision. 

Conclusion 

WHEREFORE, Specialist Lewis respectfully requests this Honorable Court 

grant his petition for review. 
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